
Planning Commission Agenda         January 17, 2017 
 

Any documents produced by the City and distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission regarding any item on this 
Agenda will be made available at the City Clerk’s counter at City Hall located at 7018 Pine Street, Hughson, CA. 

1 

  
 

AGENDA 
TUESDAY, JANUARY 17, 2017 – 6:00 P.M. 

 
CALL TO ORDER:  Chair Alan McFadon  
 
ROLL CALL:  Chair Alan McFadon 
    Vice Chair Ken Sartain 
    Commissioner Julie Ann Strain  

Commissioner Brian Evans 
Commissioner Kevin Cloherty 
 

Staff to be Present:  Jaylen French, Community Development Director 
   Susana Diaz, Deputy City Clerk  
   Monica Streeter, Deputy City Attorney  

 
FLAG SALUTE:  Chair Alan McFadon 

 

 
1. PUBLIC BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR (No Action Can Be Taken): 
 
Members of the Audience may address the Planning Commission on any item of interest to the 
public pertaining to the City and may step to the podium, State their name and City of 
Residence for the record (requirement of Name and City of Residence is optional) and make 
their presentation. Please limit presentations to five minutes. Since the Planning Commission 
cannot take action on matters not on the Agenda, unless the action is authorized by Section 
54954.2 of the Government Code, items of concern which are not urgent in nature can be 
resolved more expeditiously by completing and submitting to the City Clerk a “Citizen Request 
Form” which may be obtained from the City Clerk.  

 

CITY OF HUGHSON  
REGULARLY SCHEDULED   

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING  
City Hall Council Chambers 

7018 Pine Street, Hughson, CA 
 

RULES FOR ADDRESSING THE PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
Members of the audience who wish to address the Planning Commission are requested to complete 
one of the forms located on the table at the entrance of the Council Chambers and submit it to the 
City Clerk. Filling out the card is voluntary.  
 



Planning Commission Agenda         January 17, 2017 
 

Any documents produced by the City and distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission regarding any item on this 
Agenda will be made available at the City Clerk’s counter at City Hall located at 7018 Pine Street, Hughson, CA. 

2 

2. PRESENTATIONS:   NONE. 
 
3. NEW BUSINESS:   
 

3.1:  Approve the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of December 20, 2016. 
 
4. PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING:  
 

4.1: Consideration and Discussion of Province Place Initial Study/Mitigated 
Negative Declaration and Mitigation Monitoring Program for Rezone 
Application No. 16-01, Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 16-01 and 
Parcel Map, Design Review, Conditional Use Permit and Planned 
Development Application for the Proposed Province Place Residential 
Subdivision submitted by Windward Pacific Builders, d.b.a. WINPAC-
Euclid Avenue, LLC Located at the Southwest Corner of Locust Street and 
Euclid Avenue, APN No. 018-026-016. 

 
5. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS:  NONE. 
 
6. CORRESPONDENCE:  NONE. 
 
7. COMMENTS: 
 

7.1: Staff Reports and Comments: (Information Only – No Action) 
 
  Community Development Director: 
 
  City Clerk: 
  
  City Attorney: 
 

7.2: Commissioner Comments: (Information Only – No Action) 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

WAIVER WARNING 
 
If you challenge a decision/direction of the Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising 
only those issues you or someone else raised at a public hearing(s) described in this Agenda, or in 
written correspondence delivered to the City of Hughson at or prior to, the public hearing(s).           



Planning Commission Agenda         January 17, 2017 
 

Any documents produced by the City and distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission regarding any item on this 
Agenda will be made available at the City Clerk’s counter at City Hall located at 7018 Pine Street, Hughson, CA. 

3 

UPCOMING EVENTS: 
 

January 23  City Council Meeting @ City Hall Chambers, 7:00 P.M. 
January 26  Brown Act/AB 1234 Ethics Training, City Hall Chambers, 5:30 P.M. 
February 13  Lincoln’s Birthday Holiday -  City Hall Closed 
February 20  President’s Day Holiday -  City Hall Closed 
February 27  State of the City Address, Samaritan Village, 6:00 P.M. 

 

 
Notice Regarding Non-English Speakers:  

 
Pursuant to California Constitution Article III, Section IV, establishing English as the official language for 
the State of California, and in accordance with California Code of Civil Procedures Section 185, which 
requires proceedings before any State Court to be in English, notice is hereby given that all proceedings 
before the City of Hughson Planning Commission shall be in English and anyone wishing to address the 
Council is required to have a translator present who will take an oath to make an accurate translation 
from any language not English into the English language. 
 
 

AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING 
DATE:       January 13, 2017 TIME:                     5:00 pm     

NAME:      Susana Diaz  TITLE:                    Deputy City Clerk 
 
 
 
General Information: The Hughson Planning Commission meets in the Council 

Chambers on the third Tuesday of each month at 6:00 p.m., 
unless otherwise noticed.  

 
PC Agendas:  The Planning Commission Agenda is now available for public 

review at the City’s website at www.hughson.org and City 
Clerk's Office, 7018 Pine Street, Hughson, California on the 
Friday, prior to the scheduled meeting.  Copies and/or 
subscriptions can be purchased for a nominal fee through the 
City Clerk’s Office.   

Questions:            Contact the City Clerk at (209) 883-4054. 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT/CALIFORNIA BROWN ACT 
NOTIFICATION FOR THE CITY OF HUGHSON 

 
This Agenda shall be made available upon request in alternative formats to persons with a disability; as required by the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Section 12132) and the Ralph M. Brown Act (California Government 
Code Section 54954.2).    
 
Disabled or Special needs Accommodation:  In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons 
requesting a disability related modification or accommodation in order to participate in the meeting and/or if  you need 
assistance to attend or participate in a Planning Commission meeting, please contact  the City Clerk’s office at (209) 
883-4054. Notification at least 48-hours prior to the meeting will assist the City Clerk in assuring that reasonable 
accommodations are made to provide accessibility to the meeting.  

http://www.hughson.org/


Planning Commission Minutes        December 20, 2016 
 

 
All documents produced by the City and distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission regarding any item 
on this Agenda are available at the City Clerk’s counter at City Hall located at 7018 Pine Street, Hughson, CA. 

 

1 

 

  

MINUTES 
TUESDAY, DECEMBER 20, 2016 – 6:00 P.M. 

 
CALL TO ORDER: Chair Alan McFadon 
 
ROLL CALL:   
 

Present:  Chair Alan McFadon 
    Commissioner Brian Evans 
    Commissioner Kevin Cloherty  
    Commissioner Julie Ann Strain 
    Commissioner Ken Sartain 
 
Staff Present:  Jaylen French, Community Development Director 
    Susana Diaz, Deputy City Clerk    
 
FLAG SALUTE:  Chair Alan McFadon 

 
   
1. PUBLIC BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR (No Action Can Be Taken): 
 

No Public Comments.  
 
2. PRESENTATIONS: 
 

2.1: National Chain Restaurant(s) in Hughson? 
 

Director French initiated conversation regarding the Commissions’ and the 
communities’ desire to have national chain restaurant(s), i.e. fast food 
restaurants in Hughson.   No action was sought or taken. 
 

 

CITY OF HUGHSON  
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
7018 Pine Street, Hughson, CA 

 



Planning Commission Minutes        December 20, 2016 
 

 
All documents produced by the City and distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission regarding any item 
on this Agenda are available at the City Clerk’s counter at City Hall located at 7018 Pine Street, Hughson, CA. 

 

2 

3. NEW BUSINESS:   
 

3.1: Approve the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of October 18, 2016. 
 
STRAIN/MCFADON 5-0-0-0 motion passes to approve the Minutes as presented. 
 
 3.2: Appoint a Planning Commission Chair and Vice Chair for 2017. 
 
The Commission discussed the 2017 appointment of Chair and Vice Chair for 
Planning Commission. 
 
SARTAIN/STRAIN 5-0-0-0 motion passes to re-appoint Commissioner McFadon as 
Chair to the Planning Commission.  
 
STRAIN/CLOHERTY 5-0-0-0 motion passes to appoint Commissioner Sartain as 
Vice Chair to the Planning Commission.  
 
4. PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING:  NONE.  
 
5. INFORMATION ITEMS:  
 

5.1: Chain Link Fences.   
 
Director French provided an update regarding the chain link fences in Hughson. 
No action was sought or taken. 
  
6. CORRESPONDENCE:      NONE. 
 
7. COMMENTS: 
 

7.1: Staff Reports and Comments: (Information Only – No Action) 
 

Community Development Director: Director French provided an 
update on the Santa Fe Avenue 
and Hatch Road project.  

  
 Director French also provided 

an update on the Fox Road 
Sidewalk Infill project.  

 
 Director French informed the 

Commission that in January 
the Planning Commission will 
hold a hearing on the vesting 
tentative subdivision map 



Planning Commission Minutes        December 20, 2016 
 

 
All documents produced by the City and distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission regarding any item 
on this Agenda are available at the City Clerk’s counter at City Hall located at 7018 Pine Street, Hughson, CA. 

 

3 

application for the property 
located at the Southwest 
corner of Locust Avenue and 
Euclid Road. The subdivision 
will consist of 39 single family 
dwellings. 

 
City Clerk: Deputy City Clerk Diaz 

informed the Planning 
Commission of an upcoming 
Brown Act and AB1234 Ethics 
training taking place January 
26, 2017 in the Council 
Chambers of City Hall. 

 
 7.2: Commissioner Comments: (Information Only – No Action) 
 
  Commissioner Sartain wished everyone a Merry Christmas. 
 

Commissioner Cloherty announced the birth of his first grandson. He is 
happy to be on the Planning Commission and is looking forward to 
working with the Commissioners. 
 
Commissioner Evans wished everyone a Merry Christmas and a Happy 
New Year. He is happy to be on the Planning Commission and looks 
forward to serving on the Commission. 

 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Chair McFadon adjourned the meeting at 7:18 P.M.  
 
 
 
 

___________________________ 
ALAN MCFADON, Chair  
 
 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Susana Diaz, Deputy City Clerk 



 

  
 
Meeting Date: January 17, 2017 
Subject: Consideration and Discussion of Province Place Initial 

Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration and Mitigation 
Monitoring Program for Rezone Application No. 16-01, 
Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 16-01 and Parcel 
Map, Design Review, Conditional Use Permit and Planned 
Development Application for the Proposed Province Place 
Residential Subdivision submitted by Windward Pacific 
Builders, d.b.a. WINPAC-Euclid Avenue, LLC Located at 
the Southwest Corner of Locust Street and Euclid 
Avenue, APN No. 018-026-016 

Enclosures: Province Place Land Use Application Package 
Design Review Package 

 Resolution No. 2017-02 
Resolution No. 2017-03 
Resolution No. PC 2017-01 
Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration and 
Mitigation Monitoring Program 

Presented By:  Jaylen French, Community Development Director 
 

 
Recommendation: 
 

1. Recommend adoption of Resolution No. 2017-01, a Resolution of the 
Hughson City Council recommending adoption of the Province Place Initial 
Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration and Mitigation Monitoring Program, 
and authorize City staff to file a Notice of Determination; and  
 

2. Recommend adoption of Resolution No. 2017-02, a Resolution of the 
Hughson City Council recommending approval of Rezone Application No. 
16-01 and Condition Use Permit, Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 16-
01 and the Parcel Map, and Planned Development; and  

 
3. Adopt Resolution No. PC 2017-01, Province Place Design Review 

 
 
 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION                     
AGENDA ITEM NO. 4.1 

SECTION 4:  PUBLIC HEARING 



1095105-2 
 

 
Background and Overview: 
 
Development Application 
 
Applicant: Windward Pacific Builders, d.b.a. WINPAC-Euclid 

Avenue, LLC. 
Location:   Southwest corner of Locust Street and Euclid Avenue 
APN:    018-026-016 
Current Zoning:  Rural Residential (R-A) 
Proposed Zoning:  Planned Development (P-D) 

Similar to Medium Density Residential (R-2) 
 
Surrounding Zoning: North: High Density Residential (R-3) 
     Samaritan Village 

East: Agriculture, Stanislaus County  
South: Open Space (O-S),  

Hughson Arboretum and Gardens 
    West: Open Space (O-S) 
     Hughson Sports and Fitness Complex 
     
The project proposal is to subdivide approximately 4.51± acres located at the 
southwest corner of Locust Street and Euclid Avenue (APN No. 018-026-016) into 
39 single-family residential lots ranging in size from 2,907 to 3,962 square feet 
within a gated community.  The proposed project will include associated street, 
sewer, water, and storm drainage improvements.  Street improvements primarily 
consist of the construction of ‘Private Streets’ through the proposed project, with 
connections to Euclid Avenue to the east and Locust Street to the north. 
 
The application package includes a Parcel Map which will create two separate 
parcels; a 4.51± acre parcel (project site) and a 0.34± acre parcel (remainder 
parcel).  This approximately 14,238 square foot area (remainder parcel), which is a 
current homesite, will remain as is and be formally separated from the project 
development.  The project applicant has agreed to complete the Euclid Avenue 
street improvements in front of this remainder parcel as part of the project site 
improvements. 
 
The proposed project will necessitate a zone change of the subject property from 
Rural Residential (R-A) to Planned Development (P-D).  Per the Hughson 
Municipal Code (HMC), “The purpose of the P-D planned development overlay 
zone is to encourage a creative and more efficient approach to the use of land and 
to provide for greater flexibility in the design of integrated developments than 
otherwise possible through strict application of zoning regulations.”  Further, “The 
P-D overlay zone may be applied to parcels of land of any size in any zone that are 
found by the Planning Commission to be suitable for the proposed development.  
An application for the establishment of a P-D zone shall also include an application 
for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP).”   
 
Per Section 17.04.012 of the HMC, “Conditional use permits provide an opportunity 
to review the location, site development or conduct of certain land uses, activities 



1095105-2 
 

and structural features that generally have a distinct impact on the area in which 
they are located or are capable of creating special problems for bordering 
properties unless given careful attention. Use permits may be granted by the 
planning commission under the provisions of this section.”  The CUP application is 
considered concurrently with the approval of the P-D zone. 
 
General Plan & Zoning Consistency 
 
Background 
In 2012, the Hughson Unified School District, in coordination with the City of 
Hughson, acquired 15± acres of a 20± acre parcel located south of Locust Street 
and west of Euclid Avenue for the purposes of developing a sports and fitness 
complex.  Subsequently, the parcel was split, leaving approximately 4.85 acres—
i.e. the subject property. 
 
General Plan Designation 
The subject property is currently designated Low Density Residential (LDR) in the 
adopted City of Hughson General Plan (2005).  Please see the figure below. 
 
Zoning Classification 
The subject property is zoned Rural Residential (R-A) per the City of Hughson 
Zoning Code. This is the only parcel in the City, which carries this zoning 
classification.  Please see the figure below. 
 
The project application includes a zone change to Planned Development (P-D).  As 
stated previously, the purpose of the planned development overlay zone is to 
encourage a creative and more efficient approach to the use of land and to provide 
for greater flexibility in the design of integrated developments than otherwise 
possible through strict application of zoning regulations.  As indicated in Table LU-
3 from the Hughson General Plan, the P-D zone is an allowable zone in the Low 
Density Residential General Plan Designation; therefore a General Plan 

  



1095105-2 
 

Amendment is not required. 
Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) 
 
The Province Place IS/MND has analyzed the potential environmental effects of 
the proposed project in the range of the environmental subject areas specified in 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the CEQA Guidelines.  On 
the basis of this analysis, the City, acting as the Lead Agency and using its 
independent judgment and analysis, finds that the project will not have any 
significant environmental effects, with mitigation incorporated. 
 
Pursuant to CEQA, the draft IS/MND was circulated to all interested parties and 
responsible agencies for review and comment.  After the comment period closed, 
the City had received two (2) letters, one from the Central Valley Regional Water 
Quality Control Board and one from the Native American Heritage Commission.  
Neither letter raised issues that needed to be addressed per CEQA.  Both were 
standard letters meant to remind the lead agency of the commenting agencies 
processes and protocols.  Please see the attached letters.  A Mitigated Negative 
Declaration has been prepared for approval concurrent with action on the vesting 
tentative subdivision map and zone change.  In conclusion, based on the Initial 
Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration, it has been determined that the project will 
not have a significant effect on the environment based on the proposed mitigation.   
 
Design Review 
 
Design Review is a part of the submitted Province Place Application to address the 
proposed residential housing units as well as the site and street layout as well as 
orientation to the community and surrounding areas.  Although the design review 
process may be considered subjective in nature, the City does have an adopted 
set of Design Expectations, which provide the objective criteria for which approval 
or denial should be based. Each applicant is required to submit a self certification 
checklist (Attached), to assist City staff’s and the Planning Commission’s review of 
the proposal. 
 
The purpose of the Design Review process, as outlined in Section 17.04.020 of the 
Hughson Municipal Code (HMC), is “…to promote orderly, attractive and 
harmonious development, recognize environmental limitations on development, 
stabilize land values and investments and promote general welfare.  The [design] 
review process aims to achieve these goals by preventing uses or structures which 
would not meet the specific intent, clauses or performance standards of this title or 
which would not properly relate to their sites, surrounding, traffic circulation, or 
environmental setting.” 
 
Further, the “City of Hughson has determined that all new development shall 
complement and enhance the community.  It is the expectation that new 
development will address issues of community, place and identity through the 
thoughtful placement of neighborhoods, open spaces, streets and land use.  The 
City’s desire is to integrate many of the basic principles of community design 
common in traditional neighborhoods, with modern home-building technologies 
and market realities to create vital and distinctive places to live and call home.  The 
adopted Design Expectations principles or guidelines provide direction as well as 



1095105-2 
 

establish criteria that serve as the basis of review by City staff and the Planning 
Commission for residential projects.”  
 
In regards to the Design Review component, the Planning Commission may 
approve, conditionally approve or deny the project.  The Commission shall approve 
a development review application only if the following findings can be made: 
 

1. The proposed project is consistent with the General Plan, any adopted 
design expectations or design guidelines and the Hughson Municipal Code. 

2. The proposed architecture and site design complements the surrounding 
neighborhood and/or district. 

3. The proposed project is consistent with the general scale of structures and 
buildings in the surrounding neighborhood and/or district. 

 
Staff has reviewed the materials and is of the opinion that the three (3) 
aforementioned findings can be made for conditional Design Review approval.  
The following is a summary of the design details. 
 
Residential Units 
The proposed Province Place residential units, in general, meet the City of 
Hughson Design Expectations; the applicant has proposed four (4) plans with two 
(2) elevations each.  The units include varied exterior elements, including porches 
and balconies.   
 
However, in City staff’s review the Designation Expectations call for a third 
elevation for a subdivision of this size.  Additionally, City staff would like to address 
minor issues with three of the four plans.  Please see the proposed condition of 
Design Review approval below. 
 
Common Area 
A common area—including such features as a decorative paver open area, 
grassed retention basin, bocce ball court, gazebo and barbeque area—is located 
in the center of the subdivision adjacent to the Hughson Sports and Fitness 
Complex (S&FC).  The applicant is proposing a wrought-iron fence along the west 
side of the common area to provide visibility to the S&FC.  This will be maintained 
by the established Homeowner’s Association. 
 
Alleys/Shared Driveways 
The project calls for clusters of homes to be arranged around an alley or a shared 
driveway.  This access will be improved as would a street, but is narrower than a 
typical city street is intended solely for ingress/egress to the residential units.  No 
parking is allowed on these access points. 
 
Exterior Wall & Entries 
The applicant is proposing wood fencing with masonry pilasters along Euclid 
Avenue and Locust Street as well as decorative masonry type entry monuments.  
Please see Landscape Elevations.  The sidewalk will be located directly adjacent 
to the street, as with the improvements at Samaritan Village to the north and a 10 
foot landscape area is behind the sidewalk in front of the fence.   



1095105-2 
 

There will be a gate located at the connection to Euclid Avenue and to Locust 
Street.  The gate at Locust Street will be the primary entrance and exit, whereas 
the gate at Euclid Avenue will be a exit for the residents or visitors.  A man-gate 
will be provided at each location.   
 
Based on the submitted Self-Certification Checklist, as well as City staff’s review, 
there are two issues that do not fully meet the intent of the Design Expectations as 
described below: 
 

1. Section A, Orientation to Built Community/Adjoining Development, #3: 
“Open community, without gates, unless permitted by City Council in special 
housing situation.”  The Residential Design Expectations clearly desire open 
communities.  As indicated previously, the proposed project is to be gated at 
Euclid Avenue and Locust Street and include a private common area that 
will be maintained by an HOA.  While gated communities are not preferred 
in the Design Expectations, the location of the proposed subdivision makes 
a certain amount of sense as it is located on the edge of the City adjacent to 
rural farmsteads.  This development is not surrounded on all sides, nor will it 
be for the foreseeable future.  Additionally, the proposed subdivision is 
located directly south of Samaritan Village, which is also gated.    
 

2. Section E, Encourage Pedestrian Activity in Residential Neighborhoods, 
#1&2: “Pedestrian sidewalks or pathways on both sides of all streets.”  And, 
“Pedestrian sidewalk separated from the street curb by a landscape planter 
strip.”  The two main roadways, Province Place and Callie Way on the 
interior of the subdivision include sidewalks on one side of the roadway.  
However, the layout of the subdivision and the fact that it is gated makes it a 
pedestrian friendly subdivision.  The sidewalk on Euclid Avenue and Locust 
Street is not separated by a landscape planter.  The project proponent, in 
coordination with City staff, has decided to widen the landscape area 
between the project fencing and the street. This will provide a more 
aesthetic landscape area as well as alleviate future sidewalk cracking 
issues which arise as trees grow in these narrow planters. 

 
The adopted Design Expectations indicate the preference of the City, and use of 
these is expected to improve quality and raise standards of excellence in 
development of properties.  They are not intended as mandates.  It is staff’s 
opinion that the proposed project meets the intent of the Design Expectations and 
that with the prior explanation that all three findings can be made. 
 
Conditions of Approval 
 
Design Review is a discretionary approval; therefore, it is acceptable to place 
conditions of approval to address issues identified in the City’s Design 
Expectations.  City staff recommends that the Planning Commission conditionally 
approve the Design Review application with the following conditions of approval: 
 

1. Provide a third elevation for each plan 
2. Address the blank wall on Plan Two 
3. Address the rear elevation on Plan Three 



1095105-2 
 

4. Address the south elevation on Plan Four 
5. Install decorative bike rack(s) in the common area 

 



 

CITY COUNCIL 
CITY OF HUGHSON 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-02  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF HUGHSON ADOPTING A 
MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION FOR VESTING TENTATIVE SUBDVISION 

MAP NO. 16-01 AND REZONE NO. 16-01, PROVINCE PLACE 
APN: 018-026-016  

 
WHEREAS, Windward Pacific Builders d.b.a. WINPAC-Euclid Avenue, LLC has 

made application for a Vesting Tentative Subdvision Map, Zone Change, Parcel Map, 
Design Review, Planned Development and Condition Use Permit on APN 018-026-016; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act 

(CEQA), an Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration has been prepared; and  
 

WHEREAS, there was a duly noticed public hearing before the Hughson 
Planning Commission on January 17, 2017 and the Planning Commission 
recommended to the City Council adoption of the Mitigated Negative Declaration; and 

 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the duly noticed public hearing before the Hughson 

City Council held on January 23, 2017, the Hughson City Council finds, that the project 
is consistent with the intent of the General Plan adopted 2005. 

  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of 
Hughson finds, acting as lead agency and using it independent judgment and analysis, 
based on the whole of the record before it, that there is no substantial evidence that the 
proposed project will have a significant effect on the environment, adopts a Mitigated 
Negative Declaration for the above-referenced project. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Hughson at its 
regularly scheduled meeting on this 23rd day of January 2017 by the following roll call 
vote: 
                 
                  AYES:            . 
 
                  NOES:           . 
 
                  ABSTENTIONS:     . 
 
                  ABSENT: 
                
 
 
 



 _________________________ 
 JERAMY YOUNG, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
SUSANA DIAZ, Deputy City Clerk 
 



 

CITY COUNCIL 
CITY OF HUGHSON 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-03  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF HUGHSON REZONING 
CERTAIN PROPERTY FOR THE PROPOSED PROVINCE PLACE RESIDENTIAL 

SUBDIVISION 
APN: 018-026-016  

 
WHEREAS, Windward Pacific Builders d.b.a. WINPAC-Euclid Avenue, LLC has 

made application for a Vesting Tentative Subdvision Map, which requires a Zone 
Change; and  

 
WHEREAS, the official zoning map of the City of Hughson, established by 

Municipal Code 17.08.020 is to be amended by rezoning the parcel designated 018-
026-016 on the Assessor’s Map of Stanislaus County from Rural Residential (R-A) to 
Planned Development (P-D); and  
 

WHEREAS, there was a duly noticed public hearing before the Hughson 
Planning Commission on January 17, 2017 and the Planning Commission 
recommended to the City Council approved the stated zone change; and 

 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the duly noticed public hearing before the Hughson 

City Council held on January 23, 2017, the Hughson City Council finds that: 
1. The action is consistent with the general plan or any applicable specific plan; 
2. The action will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, 

convenience, or welfare of the city; and 
3. The site is suitable for the requested land uses, if applicable. (Ord. 08-06 § 1, 

2008) 
  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of 
Hughson makes the aforementioned findings and hereby approves the stated zone 
change on APN 108-026-016. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Hughson at its 
regularly scheduled meeting on this 23rd day of January 2017 by the following roll call 
vote: 
                 
                  AYES:            . 
 
                  NOES:           . 
 
                  ABSTENTIONS:     . 
 
                  ABSENT: 
                



 
 
 
 _________________________ 
 JERAMY YOUNG, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
SUSANA DIAZ, Deputy City Clerk 
 



 

CITY OF HUGHSON 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION NO. PC 2017-01  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF HUGHSON 
CONDITIONALLY APPROVING DESIGN REVIEW FOR THE PROVINCE PLACE 

SUBDIVISION 
 

WHEREAS, Windward Pacific Homes d.b.a. WINPAC-Euclid Avenue, LLC., 
submitted a development application including Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 
16-01, and Rezone No. 16-01, Parcel Map, Design Review, Planned Development and 
Conditional Use Permit for APN 018-026-016, located at the southwest corner of Locust 
Street and Euclid Avenue; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Design Review application was submitted and reviewed 

pursuant to Hughson Municipal Code (HMC) Section 17.04.020; and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed Project was evaluated by the Planning Commission 

pursuant to the City of Hughson General Plan and Design Expectations and found be in 
conformance; and  
 

WHEREAS, notice of the application was advertised in the local newspaper—the 
Hughson Chronicle—to solicit public input; and 

  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission of the 
City of Hughson, pursuant to HMC 17.04.020(G)(3) does hereby conditionally approve 
the Design Review Application for the proposed Province Place subdivision subject to 
the following: 
 
 A.  The Planning Commission makes the following findings in accordance with 
HMC Section 17.04.020 F: 
 

1. The proposed project is consistent with the general plan, any applicable 
specific plans, any adopted design expectations or design guidelines, and 
the Hughson Municipal Code as conditioned herein. 

2. The proposed architecture and site design complements the surrounding  
neighborhood and/or district. 

3.  The proposed project is consistent with the general scale of structures and  
    buildings in the surrounding neighborhood and/or district. 

 
 B.  The Planning Commission hereby conditionally approvals the Design Review 
Application for the Project subject to the following condition: 
 

1. Provide a third (3rd) elevation for each of the four (4) proposed plans 
2. Address the blank wall on Plan Two 
3. Address the rear elevation on Plan Three 



4. Address the south elevation on Plan Four 
5. Install decorative bike racks in the common area 

 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Hughson at 
its regularly scheduled meeting on this 17th day of January 2017 by the following roll call 
vote: 
                 
                   AYES:            . 
 
                   NOES:           . 
 
                  ABSTENTIONS:     . 
                
 
 
 
 _________________________ 
 ALAN MCFADON, Chair 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
SUSANA DIAZ, Deputy City Clerk 
 









































































































































































 

SUBJECT 
PROPERTY 

Province Place Development Application  

Vicinity Map 

Hughson Planning Commission  
January 17, 2017 

 



 

SUBJECT 
PROPERTY 

Province Place Development Application  

Site Map 
Hughson Planning Commission  
January 17, 2017 

 



 

 
 

Province Place  
Development Application  

General Plan Map     
   

 Hughson Planning Commission 
January 17, 2017 

 

SUBJECT 
PROPERTY 

 



 

 
 

    
   

 

SUBJECT 
PROPERTY 

 

Province Place Development Application  

Zoning Map 
Hughson Planning Commission 
January 17, 2017 

 













 

 1 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Windward Pacific Builders (Applicant/Subdivider) 

PROVINCE PLACE  
Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 16-01, Rezone Application No. 16-01, and Parcel Map, 

Design Review, Conditional Use Permit and Planned Development Application 
APN: 018-026-016 

 
General 
1. The Project Proponent is responsible for ensuring that any contractor, subcontractor, employee, 

or agent of the Project Proponent is aware of and implements all measures set forth in these 
conditions. 

 
2. It is understood and agreed upon, that whenever approval of the City Engineer is required, 

whether by these Conditions, Improvement Plans, or otherwise, the approval of the City 
Manager, Community Development Director and Building Director shall also be required. 

 
3. Project approval shall be void two years after issuance of the building permits, or three years 

after approval of vesting tentative map application, whichever is later, unless state law provides 
for a longer time period. 

 
4. Project Proponent shall defend indemnify, and hold harmless City and its elected and appointed 

representatives, officers, agents and employees against actions arising out of such personal 
injury, death, or property damage or destruction which is caused, or alleged to have been 
caused, by reason of Project Proponent's activities in connection with the project described in 
the map to which these conditions are attached (“Project”).  Project Proponent further agrees to 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless City and its elected and appointed boards, commissions, 
representatives, officers, agents and employees from any and all claims, actions or proceedings 
brought against City or any of them to attach, set aside, void, or annul any approval of City or 
any of them concerning the Project which action, claim or proceeding is brought within the time 
limit specified in California Government Code section 66499.37, or the sufficiency of 
environmental review pursuant to CEQA. 

   
 The above-referenced indemnification and hold harmless requirement shall apply only if the City 

shall promptly notify the Project Proponent of any claim, action or proceeding, and cooperates 
fully in the defense of any such claim, action, or proceeding. 

 
 The City does not, and shall not, waive any rights against Project Proponent which it may have 

by reason of the aforesaid hold harmless agreement, or because of the acceptance by City, or 
the deposit with City by Developer of any of the insurance policies described herein. 

 
5. Inspection of the work and/or materials, or approval of work and/or materials inspected, or 

statements by any officer, agent, or employee of the City indicating the work or any part thereof 



 

 2 

complies with City requirements or acceptance of the whole or any part of said work and/or 
materials, or payments there for, or any combination or all of these acts, shall not relieve the 
Project Proponent of his obligation to comply with these Conditions of Approval as prescribed; 
nor shall the City thereby be stopped from bringing any actions for damages arising from the 
failure to comply with any of the terms and conditions hereof.  

 
6. Prior to issuance of a Notice of Determination, the appropriate filing fee, made payable to the 

"Stanislaus County Clerk/Recorder", shall be verified as received by the Planning Department.  
Payment is required within two days of City Council approval.  Should the finding of a NOD be 
found invalid for any reason, the applicant will be responsible for Resource Agency fee. 

 
7. Ministerial fees, including without limitation, application, processing and inspection fees, 

whether or not revised during the term of this Agreement shall apply to the Project pursuant to 
this Agreement provided that:  (1) such fees, standards and specifications apply to all works 
within the City; (2) their application to the Project Site is prospective only as to applications for 
building and other development permits or approvals not yet accepted for processing; and (3) 
their application would not prevent development in accordance with these conditions.  
Notwithstanding any Project Approvals to the contrary, the City may charge, and Project 
Proponent shall pay all ministerial fees (for example, processing and inspection fees), collected 
at the building permit stage or other approval stage for subsequent site specific approvals, 
building permits and other similar permits which are in force and effect on a City-wide basis at 
the time application is submitted for such permits.  Such ministerial fees do not include impact 
fees or other discretionary fees collected prior to the building permit stage or other approval 
stage.  Such ministerial fees and charges shall be no more than the estimated reasonable cost to 
the City for performing the work for which the particular fee or charge is paid pursuant to 
Government Code Sections 66014 et seq. 

 
8. Project Proponent shall pay to City, within thirty (30) days of submission of any invoice, detailing 

all the work done and costs charged to the City, costs incurred by City for services performed by 
City Attorney in drafting, negotiating, or in any other way connected with, this project, at the 
current rate charged, and by the City Engineer in reviewing and approving maps, improvement 
plans, or in any other way connected with, the Project, at the rate charged the City by the City 
Engineer.  The City shall provide an estimate of expected costs incurred.   

 
Prior to Approval of the Tentative Subdivision Map and Parcel Map 
9. The Project Proponent shall prepare and submit, as part of the Design Review process, exhibits 

and/or renderings of the exterior subdivision wall. 
 

10. Project Proponent shall agree to concurrently construct public street improvements on Euclid 
Avenue within the boundaries of the proposed project as well as the parcel to be excluded from 
the subdivision per the submitted parcel map. 

 



 

 3 

11. All structures on the existing home site, which is to be excluded from the subdivision per the 
parcel map, are to be removed or relocated and the area of the proposed subdivision shall be 
free of any such structures related to the existing home site. 

 
Prior to Submittal/Approval of the Improvement Plans and Final Map 
12. Prior to recordation of a final subdivision map, the Project Proponent shall obtain certification 

from the Community Development Director and the Design Review Committee, that the 
landscaping and irrigation system generally conforms to City standards and that all of the 
conditions have been met. 

 
13. The Project Proponent shall provide amenities as described, similar to or exceeding those 

proposed in the approved tentative map. 
 

14. The Project Proponent shall prepare and submit a design for the installation of mail drop-off 
boxes within the subdivision and submit the same to the Post Master for initial approval.  The 
approved plan shall thereafter be submitted to the City for review and approval. Project 
Proponent shall confer with the local US Postal Service authorities to determine locations of 
cluster mailboxes.  If clustering or special locations are specified, easements or other mapped 
provisions shall be provided in the final map to the satisfaction of the US Postal Service and 
Hughson Community Development Director.  If clustering is not specified, Project Proponent 
shall provide written evidence from the US Postal Service of the exemption.  Project Proponent 
shall provide the concrete foundation for the cluster boxes at the approved location. 

 
15. The applicant shall be responsible for new streetscape improvements located on the west side 

of Euclid Avenue and on the south side of Locust Street, including new street lights.  Final 
streetscape improvements shall be included in the Improvement Plans for final approval. 

 
16. The Improvement Plans shall include the following: 

a. Provisions for project staging 

b. Designated areas for construction employee parking (on- and off-site). 

c. Construction office, sales office (if any), hours of construction. 

d. Details and locations of any decorative walls shall be included and approved by the 
Community Development Director. 

e. Show fencing and fencing details.  Large expanses of blank wall are not allowed.  
Articulate or otherwise treat such expanses. 

f. The pavement at the main entries, at least, shall be enhanced by the use of approved 
decorative pavement materials. The location, design and materials shall be approved by 
the Community Development Director. Consideration shall be given to utilizing this 
material for the entire length of the interior streets. 



 

 4 

g. A final lighting plan prepare by the Project Proponent shall be included to show exterior 
lighting.  Exterior lighting shall be erected and maintained so that adequate lighting is 
provided in all common areas.  The Community Development Director shall approve the 
design and location of lighting fixtures, which shall reflect the architectural style of the 
building(s).  Exterior lighting shall be shielded and deflected away from neighboring 
properties and from windows of houses within the project. 

h. All air conditioners and utility connections for air conditioners shall be located such that 
all external equipment is located behind solid board fences or walls not to exceed the 
height of the air conditioner. 

i. All parking spaces are to meet minimum City of Hughson standards. 

j. An area within the fenced side yard should be provided for garbage and recycling 
containers. 

k. A final color and materials board shall be submitted as part of the Design Review Process 
and approved by the Hughson Planning Commission.  No changes to colors shall be 
made after construction unless approved by the Community Development Director. 

l. All above-ground utility meters, mechanical equipment and water meters shall be 
enclosed within the buildings or shall be screened with shrubs and/or an architectural 
screen, to be approved by the Community Development Director. 

m. No mechanical equipment, other than solar panels, shall be placed on the roof.  All roof 
vents shall be shown on roof plans and elevations.  Vent piping shall not extend higher 
than required by building Code.  Roof apparatus, such as vents, shall be painted to 
match the roof color. 

n. All decorative window treatments shall be extended to all elevations. 

o. Rear and side entries should be protected by rooflines that match the pitch of roof 
where viable. 

p. Before the 19th Certificate of Occupancy is issued, the common area improvements shall be 
commenced, and before the 39th Certificate of Occupancy is issued, the construction of the 
common area improvements shall be completed. 

17. Any proposal for alterations to the proposed site plan and/or design which does not require a 
variance to any zoning ordinance standard must be approved by the Community Development 
Director or his/her designee, prior to implementation. 

18. Applicant shall submit the final map application with the improvement plans for the entire 
project.  Said improvement plans and final map shall meet all City standards and submittal 
requirements except as expressly approved for this Planned Development.  The Developer and 
City agree that based on the greater detail provided in these plans conditions of approval may 
be updated within the intent of the original conditions.  



 

 5 

19. Unless otherwise stated, all necessary easements shall be dedicated, and all improvements shall 
be designed and installed, at no cost to the City of Hughson. 

20. Unless indicated otherwise, the design for development shall comply with the following: 

a. All improvements shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the City of 
Hughson Improvement Standards and Specifications and Municipal Code where 
applicable. 

b. All construction shall meet the California Building Code (CBC) and all applicable City of 
Hughson Building Codes and amendments, including Green Building standards. 

c. Design and construction of all pertinent life safety and fire protection systems shall meet 
the California Fire Code and all applicable City of Hughson Fire Codes and amendments. 

21. A Registered Civil Engineer shall prepare all Civil Engineering improvement plans; a Licensed 
Architect shall prepare all architectural plans; and a Licensed Landscape Architect shall prepare 
all landscape unless otherwise indicated herein. 

a. A detailed drainage plan, to be approved by the City Engineer, designing all on-site 
drainage facilities to accommodate the runoff associated with a ten (10) year storm and 
incorporating onsite storm water detention measures sufficient to reduce the peak 
runoff to a level that will not cause capacity of downstream channels to be exceeded. 
Existing offsite drainage patterns, i.e., tributary areas, drainage amount and velocity shall 
not be altered by the development.   

b. A detailed Stormwater Treatment Plan and supporting documents, following City 
ordinances and conforming to Regional Water Quality Control Board's Staff 
recommendations for new development. 

22. Improvement and site plans are to be submitted to the Community Development Department 
electronically.   
 

23. Digitized information shall be submitted before requesting a final inspection and should reflect 
as-built status and architectural information as approved by the Director.   

 
24. Project Proponent shall obtain, at Project Proponent’s sole expense, any and all easements or 

real property which may be required for the development of the Project, and which may be 
necessary and required in order for Project Proponent to comply with these Conditions of 
Approval, and the applicable ordinances and resolutions of the City.  All engineering design, 
including, but not limited to, storm sewers and appurtenances, sanitary sewers and 
appurtenances, streets including, but not limited to, geometrics, sight distances, lighting and 
sound walls, water systems and appurtenances, signing and striping, landscaping and 
appurtenances, shall be supported by applicable engineering studies/calculations, as required 
by the City Engineer. 



 

 6 

25. Pursuant to the Hughson Municipal Code, the developer shall execute a subdivision agreement 
and post bonds with the City that shall secure the construction of the public improvements.  
Insurance shall be provided per the terms of the subdivision agreement. 
 

26. The Project Proponent shall provide water and sewer laterals to the proposed common open 
space site of a size adequate to provide for landscape irrigation, potable water for future 
restrooms and sewer service for future restrooms.  Electrical service shall also be provided to the 
site. 
 

 Final Map  
27. The Project Proponent shall record at the time of recordation of the final map reciprocal access, 

parking, and utility easements with maintenance and repair responsibilities clearly defined 
among all (future) parcels. 

 
28. Any owners Development liens on the real property included on the final map shall be noted on 

the final map pursuant to Section 66434.1 of the Subdivision Map Act. 
 

29. All certificates and acknowledgements required pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act shall 
appear on the face of the final map. 

 
30. A final subdivision map shall be filed with the City Engineer within 24 months of approval of the 

tentative map by the City Council. 
 

31. The Project Proponent shall coordinate with the City to establish a Community Facilities District 
(CFD) for public areas of the project site provided for community benefit.  To the extent allowed 
by law, the CFD shall include maintenance and operation of all public amenities of benefit to the 
future residents of the project site. The CFD shall be established prior to recordation of the final 
map. 

 

 The Project Proponent agrees to cooperate with the City and shall incur all costs associated with 
formation of, and/or the reimbursement to the City for Staff time used in the formation of, a 
CFD for public areas of the project site provided for community benefit.  To the extent allowed 
by law, the CFD shall include maintenance and operation of all public amenities of benefit to the 
future residents of the project site, including but not limited to sweeping, street lights and 
lighting costs, electric current, street striping, storm drain lines, cleaning, repairs, replacement, 
supervision, debris removal and any and all other items of work necessary and incidental for the 
proper maintenance and operation thereof, retention basins and percolation ponds, common 
on-site landscaping and on-site fences, parks and walls. The community facilities districts shall 
be established prior to recordation of the final subdivision map of the proposed project. The 
Project Proponent shall provide written notice to the homebuyers, satisfactory to the City 
Attorney, that a community facilities district has been established for this development. 

 



 

 7 

All lots within any phased final maps shall be annexed and incorporated into the single District 
by City Council approval prior to the recordation of each final map. The Project Proponent shall 
provide all necessary documents and pay all costs associated with formation, annexation and 
incorporation.  
 

32. Street names shall be subject to the approval of the City Design Review Committee, US Post Office, 
and emergency service providers, prior to filing of the final map. 

 
33. Developed land must be at least six inches higher than adjoining irrigated lands. 
 
34. Full City utilities shall be extended underground to the ends of applicable public streets which 

are stubbed to the edges of this project site and are intended to be extended in future phases of 
development by this, or subsequent Project Proponents.   

 
All existing underground and overhead electric facilities and existing irrigation pipelines within 
the Project Boundary shall be removed, protected, upgraded, or relocated underground as 
required by the Turlock Irrigation District, the City Engineer and the Design Review Committee. 

 
 Project Proponent shall dedicate necessary easements to, and coordinate with, Pacific Gas & 

Electric for gas service, Turlock Irrigation District for electricity service, the appropriate company, 
for telecommunications service, and the appropriate company for cable television service, for the 
provision of services to the Project, and the underground placement of all lines, pipes, conduits, 
and vaults and facilities necessary for the provision of such services, at no cost to City. Project 
Proponent is referred to Hughson Municipal Code Section 5.08.190. All such utilities on the 
existing frontages of the Project which are not already undergrounded, shall also be 
undergrounded, at Project Proponent’s sole expense and should be dedicated on the final map. 

 
 The Project Proponent shall provide evidence of commitment to serve from utilities, including, 

but not limited to, electrical service, natural gas service, telephone service, cable television 
service, and postal service.  Said evidence shall be reviewed and approved by City Staff prior to 
approval of the final subdivision map by the City Council. 

 
 Due to extensive underground utilities, large root-invasive trees will not be permitted unless utilities 

therein are appropriately situated per City approval. 
 
Storm Water Quality Requirements 
35. The following materials related to the Storm water quality treatment facility requirements shall 

be submitted with improvement plans and/or grading permit application: 

a. A Stormwater Treatment Measures Maintenance Agreement shall be submitted to 
Community Development Department for review and approval.  Once approved, the 



 

 8 

Maintenance Agreement shall be recorded with the Stanislaus County Recorder’s Office 
to ensure that the maintenance is bound to the property in perpetuity. 

b. A Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) shall be submitted with a design to 
reduce discharge of pollutants and sediments into the downstream storm drain system. 
The plan shall meet the approval of the City Engineer. The certification page of the 
SWPPP shall be signed by a Qualified SWPPP Developer (QSD) person who prepared the 
report. 

c. Before commencing any grading or construction activities at the project site, the 
developer shall obtain a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit 
and provide evidence of filing of a Notice of Intent (NOI) with the State Water Resources 
Control Board. 

d. The project plans shall include the storm drain design in compliance with post-
construction stormwater requirements to provide treatment of the stormwater according 
to the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit’s numeric criteria. 
The design shall comply with the C.3 established thresholds and shall incorporate 
measures to minimize pollutants to the maximum extent practicable (MEP). 

e. The project plans shall identify Best Management Practices (BMPs) appropriate to the 
uses conducted on-site to effectively prevent the entry of pollutants into storm water 
runoff. Roof leaders and direct runoff shall discharge into a landscaped area or a 
bioretention area prior to stormwater runoff entering an underground pipe system. 

36. The developer is responsible for ensuring that all contractors are aware of all storm water quality 
measures and implement such measures. Failure to comply with the approved construction 
BMPs will result in the issuance of correction notices, citations or a project stop order. 

37. The Project Proponent shall submit a construction Best Management Practices (BMP's) program 
for review and approval by the Community Development Director prior to issuance of building 
and/or grading permits.  The general contractor and all subcontractors and suppliers of 
materials and equipment shall implement these BMP’s, which shall consist of at least but not be 
limited to the following measures during all phases of the project: 

a. Gathering of all construction and other debris on a daily basis and placing it in a 
dumpster or other container which is emptied or removed on a weekly or as needed 
basis.  When appropriate, use of tarps on the ground to collect fallen debris or splatters 
that could contribute to storm water runoff pollution. 

b. Removal of all dirt, gravel, rubbish, refuse, and green waste from the street pavement 
and storm drains adjoining the site.  Limit of construction access routes onto the site and 
placing of gravel on them. Not driving vehicles and equipment off paved or graveled 
areas during wet weather. ‘Broom sweep’ of the street pavement adjoining the project 
site on a daily basis.  Scraping of caked-on mud and dirt from these areas before 
sweeping. 



 

 9 

c. Installation of filter materials (such as sandbags, filter fabric, etc.) at the storm drain inlet 
nearest the downstream side of the project site in order to retain any debris or dirt 
flowing in the storm drain system.  Filter materials will also be placed around each 
jobsite.  Maintaining and/or replacing filter materials to ensure effectiveness and to 
prevent street flooding. 

d. Creating a contained and covered area on the site for the storage of bags, cement, 
paints, oils, fertilizers, pesticides, or other materials used on the site that have the 
potential of being discharged into the storm drain system through being windblown or 
in the event of a material spill.   

e. Never cleaning machinery, equipment, tools, brushes, or rinse containers into a street, 
gutter, or storm drain. 

f. Ensuring that concrete/gunite supply trucks or concrete/plaster operations do not 
discharge wash water into street, gutters, or storm drains.   

g. Ensuring all portable toilets used during construction are be kept as far as possible from 
existing residences and are emptied on a regular basis as necessary to prevent odor. 

38. Construction site cleanup and control of construction debris shall also be addressed.  Failure to 
comply with the approved construction BMP may result in the issuance of correction notices, 
citations, or a stop work order.  
 

Public Streets 
39. Any dedications, open offers of dedication, or grants of easements may be dedicated and 

accepted on the face of the map.  Agreements or other required items shall be recorded as 
separate documents concurrently with recordation of the parcel map. 

40. Improvements for public streets shall incorporate the following: 

a. The design and locations of street approaches including pedestrian ramps shall be 
approved by the City Engineer.  Pedestrian ramps shall be installed at all street 
intersections and as where required by the City. 

b. The street design shall utilize standard curb and gutter.  The street sections shall be 
constructed to Caltrans H-20 loading requirements and City of Hughson public street 
standards, including sections of decorative pavement.  Curb returns and bulb outs shall 
be designed to facilitate street sweeping. 

c. The proposed decorative paving shall be enhanced with at least ten feet of raised 
decorative paving (e.g., interlocking pavers or stamped colored concrete, or bands of 
decorative paving, etc.).  The Community Development Director shall approve the 
material, color and design, and the City Engineer shall approve the pavement section for 
the decorative paving.  Decorative pavements shall be constructed to Caltrans H-20 
requirements.  



 

 10 

d. Upon any necessary repairs to the public facilities under the on-site decorative paved 
areas, the City shall not be responsible for the replacement cost of the decorative paving.  
The replacement cost shall be borne by the homeowners’ association established to 
maintain the common areas within the subdivision boundary. 

e. Existing pavement within the whole width of Locust Street along the entire project 
frontage shall be seal coated and existing pavement within the whole width of Euclid 
Avenue along the entire project frontage shall be overlaid with a minimum of two inches 
of pavement with dig outs as may be required. 

f. Standard L.E.D. street lights shall be installed along the street frontages. 

 
41. All proposed surface-mounted hardware (fire hydrants, electroliers, etc.) along the proposed 

streets shall be located outside of the sidewalk within the proposed Public Utility Easement in 
accordance with the requirements of the City Engineer or, where applicable, the Fire Chief. 

 
42. All street improvements shall conform with the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities 

Act, including the placement of sidewalk at the rear of the driveway at all driveway locations and 
adjacent to the back of curb at all non-driveway locations. 

 
Private Streets 
43. Improvements for private streets and alleys shall incorporate the following: 

a. All of the private alleys shall be designated as fire lanes and no parking will be allowed 
except in designated parking areas.   

b. Pavement Sections for proposed private street and alley improvements shall be designed 
a minimum Asphalt Concrete (AC) thickness approved by the City Engineer and if 
permeable pavers are used shall meet City Standard. 

c. The interior intersections shall be designed as driveway intersections which must meet 
Fire Department access and turning requirements.  Pedestrian curb ramps shall be 
installed to facilitate access and circulation throughout the development. 

d. Internal subdivision streetlights and pedestrian lighting shall be owned and maintained 
by the homeowners association and shall have a decorative design approved by the 
Community Development Director. 

e. The private alleys shall be dedicated as utility easements. 

 
Storm Drainage 
44. A detailed hydrology/drainage study shall be completed at the expense of the project proponent, 

and shall provide for a Plan Area positive drainage system via on-site detention basin within 
common open space area offering temporary storage and percolation with collection and 



 

 11 

transmission to the ultimate storm water drain system.  This may require double-piping in some 
streets and valves at basins. 

45. The on-site storm drain system shall be a private system owned and maintained by the 
homeowners association. 

 
46. The project streets, driveways and parking areas shall be designed to facilitate street sweeping, 

including the layout of the tree and handicap ramp bulb outs.  The HOA shall be responsible for 
street sweeping on a regular basis. 

 
47. Improvements for storm drain systems shall incorporate the following: 

a. The locations and design of storm drains shall meet the City’s standard design and be 
approved by the City Engineer and if necessary.  Any alternative design shall be 
approved by the City Engineer prior to installation. 

b. Storm drain pipes in streets and alleys shall be a minimum of twelve inches in diameter 
with a minimum cover of three feet over the pipe unless otherwise approved by the City 
Engineer. 

c. The project shall not block runoff from, or augment runoff to, adjacent properties. The 
drainage area map developed for the project hydrology design shall clearly indicate all 
areas tributary to the project area. The developer is required to mitigate unavoidable 
augmented runoffs with offsite and/or on-site improvements. 

d. No surface runoff is allowed to flow over the sidewalks and/or driveways.  Area drains 
shall be installed behind the sidewalks to collect all runoff from the project site. 

e. All storm drain inlets must be labeled "No Dumping - Drains to River," using City-
approved methods.  

 
Sewer System  
48. Project Proponent is responsible for constructing all on-site sanitary sewer facilities and the 

connection for the proposed project to the sewer main.  All sanitary sewer improvement 
necessary to serve the project shall be complete and in place and accepted by the City prior to 
use of the sanitary sewer system. 

49. All public sewer mains and appurtenances shall be constructed in accordance to the City’s 
Improvement Standards and Specifications and the Sewer Master Plan. 

 
50. The on-site sanitary sewer system shall have 8-inch public mains, designed with a manhole at all 

angle points and ending with a manhole.  The main design and location shall meet the approval 
of the City Engineer. 

 



 

 12 

51. Each residential unit shall have an individual sanitary sewer lateral.  The sewer laterals shall have 
cleanouts and be constructed per City Standards. 

 
52. Project Proponent shall cause to be placed, at Project Proponent’s expense, terminal manholes 

in courts and knuckles. 
 

Water System 
53. Water service is available from the City of Hughson and is subject to standard conditions and 

fees in effect at the time of application.  
  
54. The Project Proponent shall be responsible for the purchase of one (1) radio tower in order for 

new water meter radios to be able to transmit usage information.  The City is implementing a 
wireless, cloud-based water usage tracking system. 

 
55. Project Proponent shall, at Project Proponent’s expense, install two water sampling stations, with 

at least 25 lots between, and 1 lot before and after, each station. Such stations shall be 
constructed to plans approved by the City Engineer. 

 
56. Irrigation lines, canals, or rights-of way are to be abandoned in accordance with Turlock 

Irrigation District standards. Since this parcel will no longer irrigate, the Project Proponent, at the 
Project Proponent’s expense, shall obtain an agreement with the Turlock Irrigation District to 
abandon use of any irrigation facilities. This must be requested and signed by the holders of title 
before final map approval. The Turlock Irrigation District will require two copies of detailed 
improvement plans for further review and comment.  The Project Proponent shall also enter into 
an Irrigation Improvement Agreement with the Turlock Irrigation District for any work to remove 
existing irrigation works or to construct new irrigation works. 

57. The development’s water mains shall be public, owned and maintained by the City.  The 
subdivision shall have a looped design water system.  For this planned development, the 
developer will install clusters of water services at the head of each driveway approach road to 
minimize the extent and length of dead-end water lines. 

 
58. Where a public water main is in an unpaved easement or under decorative, the water main shall 

be constructed of Ductile iron.  Shut-off valves are required where a water main transitions from 
a paved area to an unpaved easement.  

  
59. All public water mains shall be constructed in accordance with the City’s Improvement Standards 

and Specifications and the Water Master Plan. 
a. Water mains and services, including the meters must be located at least 10 feet 

horizontally from and one-foot vertically above any parallel pipeline conveying untreated 
sewage (including sanitary sewer laterals), and at least four feet from and one foot 
vertically above any parallel pipeline conveying storm drainage, per the current California 



 

 13 

Waterworks Standards, Title 22, Chapter 16, Section 64572.  The minimum horizontal 
separation distances can be reduced by using higher grade piping materials with the 
City’s approval. 

 
60. All water services from existing water mains shall be installed by City Water Distribution 

Personnel at the applicant/developer’s expense.  This includes relocating existing services and 
water main tie-ins.  The developer may only construct new services in conjunction with the 
construction of new water mains. 

a. Only Water Distribution Personnel shall perform operation of valves on the Hughson 
Water System. 

 
61. Each dwelling unit shall have an individual water meter.  

a. All water meters shall be radio-read type.  

b. Water meters shall be located a minimum of two feet from the top of driveway flare as 
per City Standards. 

62. Each structure shall have its own fire service, sized per the requirements of the Fire District.  Fire 
Services shall have an above ground Double Check Valve Assembly per District Standard.  
Residential combined domestic and fire services are allowed.  The minimum size for a residential 
fire service connection is 1 inch. 
 

Utilities 
63. All utilities shall be designed in accordance with the requirements of the City of Hughson and 

applicable public agency standards. 
 
64. All utilities must be undergrounded. 

65. All services to dwellings shall be undergrounded and installed in accordance with all utility 
providers, including their highest and best service (i.e. fiber optic network, etc.).  Underground 
utility plans must be submitted for City approval prior to installation. 

 
Site Requirements 
66. Project Proponent shall coordinate the timing of required Locust Street improvements with the 

Hughson Unified School District. 
 
67. Project Proponent shall provide and maintain gated connection to the Hughson Sports and 

Fitness Complex. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 14 

Prior to Issuance of Grading or Building Permit 
 
Planning Division 
68. This approval does not guarantee the availability of sufficient water to serve the project.  In the 

case of catastrophic water event, the City shall withhold building permits for the project if at the 
time building permits are applied for mandatory water rationing is in effect.  The City may 
withhold building permits if the City determines that sufficient water is not available at the time 
of application of building permits. 
 

69. All new dwelling units shall be fitted with a solar-ready infrastructure so that each dwelling unit 
can be easily converted to solar by the installation of solar panels, and a solar option shall be 
offered to future buyers where building orientation for such installation is feasible.  
 

70. Those conditions which are imposed or agreed to in the design review process shall survive the 
final map in the sense that the project proponent shall insure that any purchaser of any lot or 
lots receives a copy of these conditions of approval and of any conditions imposed or agreed to 
in the design review process and proof of such receipt shall be given to the City and any such 
purchaser of any lot or lots understands by this reference that no building permit will be issued 
for that lot or lots unless the conditions imposed or agreed to in the design review process are 
complied with by the actual builder. 

 
71. The Project Proponent shall prepare a deed restriction for each new lot in the proposed project 

indicating the right-to-farm for the adjacent properties as applicable.  The deed restriction shall 
only be enforced as long as the adjacent farm operations continue and are not converted to 
non-farm land uses.  The deed restriction shall be recorded against each lot upon transfer by 
deed of such lot.  Evidence of said recordation shall be submitted to the City Manager prior to 
issuance of any building permits for any new lots in the proposed project. Project Proponent 
shall prepare this deed restriction to the satisfaction of the City for each new lot in the proposed 
subdivision. The restriction shall make reference to the storage and use of hazardous materials 
at all industrial and farming operations. 

 
72. The haul route for all materials to and from this development shall be approved by the City 

Engineer prior to the issuance of an encroachment permit. 
 
73. All signage shall conform to the City Sign Ordinance in regards to size, design, and location.  All 

signs shall be reviewed, approved, and a sign permit obtained prior to installation. 
 
74. Project Proponent shall reimburse the City for all engineering, inspection, legal, and 

administrative expenses, incurred or to be incurred by the City in connection with this 
development, including expenses incurred through the use of outside consultants and 
additional inspectors, where necessary.  An account with the City for costs associated with the 
processing for the project will be established by Project Proponent.  At the time of submission of 



 

 15 

the improvement plans for the project, the Project Proponent shall deposit funds sufficient to 
raise said account to the total of $25,000.  The City shall account to Project Proponent for all 
expenses for which reimbursement is claimed, providing copies of all back-up materials in a 
timely manner, and shall return any portion of said deposit in excess of the actual amount of 
expenses incurred. If, in the judgment of the City Manager, it appears that the amount 
deposited shall not be sufficient to cover all expenses, Project Proponent shall, within 15 days 
after written request from City, make an additional deposit of funds in an amount determined 
by the City Manager to be sufficient to make up the deficiency.  At no time after submission of 
improvement plans shall the balance of the deposit fund be less than $5,000.  The need for the 
maintenance of this account shall cease upon; 1) compliance with all tentative map conditions, 
2) compliance with all of the provisions of subdivision improvement agreements for the project, 
3) compliance with all mitigation measures set forth in the mitigation monitoring plan, 4) 
acceptance of the subdivision, and 5) 90 days after completion of construction, all final 
inspections and final acceptance by the city of all improvements. 
 

75. A project sequencing plan, which shall include the timing of subdivision improvements, common 
area, exterior improvements and housing units shall be approved by the Community 
Development Director and the City Engineer prior to the issuance of the first building permit. 
 

76. Project Proponent shall pay an applicable development fee per dwelling unit in accordance with 
the City’s adopted or Developer Impact Fee programs.   

 
77. School Impact Fees shall be submitted to the Hughson Unified School District prior to the time 

of issuance of building permits for lots in the proposed project.  School impact fees shall include 
those fees required by the state, as well as any additional amount agreed upon by the Project 
Proponent and the District for each residential lot created by the proposed project. 

 
78. The Project shall conform to the requirements of the Hughson Fire District. Project Proponent 

shall, at Project Proponent’s expense, install fire hydrants which shall be tested for flow and 
color-coded to represent the amount of flow, as specified by the Hughson Fire Protection 
District. Fire hydrants shall be placed on property lines. Reflectors shall be placed in the street 
adjacent to the fire hydrants. Curbs at the fire hydrants shall be painted to prevent parking. Prior 
to any construction framing, the Project Proponent shall provide adequate fire protection 
facilities, including, but not limited to surface roads, fire hydrants, and a water supply and water 
flow in conformance to the City's Fire Department Standards able to suppress a major fire. When 
alternate methods of fire protection are approved by the Fire Chief, this requirement may be 
waived or modified.  Proposed alternative methods of fire protection shall be submitted in 
writing to the Fire Chief prior to any framing construction.  Work on the alternative fire 
protection methods shall not begin until approved by the Fire Chief. 
 

79. Fire retardant (shake, tile, etc.) Class C minimum roofing shall be required on all buildings. 
 



 

 16 

80. Internally illuminated address numbers shall be installed on all residences to be easily readable 
from the public street for emergency services, consistent with Fire Department requirements.  In 
addition, internal illuminated address numbers shall be installed on the exterior of all garages 
facing alleyways to allow for property identification from the rear alley. 
 

81. Connections to public streets and internal subdivision sidewalks and common areas shall include 
access ramps. 

 
82. The Project Proponent shall keep the site free of fire hazards from the start of lumber 

construction until the final inspection. 
 

83. All curbs located within a seven feet, six inch (7' 6") radius of a public/private fire hydrant shall 
be painted red, unless, modified by the Fire Chief.  Blue street "hydrant markers" shall be 
installed for all fire hydrants per City Standard Specifications. 
 

84. All public and private streets, driveways, aisles, and alleys designated as fire lanes by the Fire 
Chief shall be maintained in accordance with Articles 9 and 10 of the Uniform Fire Code which 
permits towing vehicles illegally parked on the fire lanes.  Fire lane curbs shall be painted red 
with "No Parking, Fire Lane, Tow Away Zone" or "No Parking, Fire Lane, Tow Away Zone" signs 
shall be installed as required by the Vehicle Code. 

 
85. Prior to commencement of any grading or other subdivision improvements the Project 

Proponent shall provide proposed trucking routes for all equipment and material deliveries. 
Damage to any public improvements, on or off site caused by construction operations, during 
construction on the subject property shall be repaired to the satisfaction of the City Engineer at 
full expense to the Project Proponent.  This shall include slurry seal, overlay, or street 
reconstruction if deemed warranted by the City Engineer.  
 

86. The water main system shall be in place, operational, and use approved by the City prior to the 
beginning of combustible construction or other arrangements made acceptable to the City or 
Hughson Fire Protection District for adequate fire protection. 

 
All sanitary sewer improvement necessary to serve each phase shall be complete and in place 
and accepted by the City prior to use of the sanitary sewer system. All improvements shall be 
provided in a manner which will not surcharge the existing City sanitary sewer collection system.   

87. A grading permit shall be required prior to mass grading for the project, and include Best 
Management Practices for erosion and dust control, and immediate revegetation of the site as 
needed for erosion control.  Erosion controls shall be utilized to prevent dirt from lots going into 
street rights-of-ways and into drainage systems. 
 

88. The Project Proponent shall submit a final grading and drainage plan prepared by a licensed civil 



 

 17 

engineer depicting design for the line, grade, on- and off-site drainage control measures, 
structural sections for the streets and all public improvements serving the development, including 
land use, infrastructure, circulation and streetscapes, public/park facilities, landscaping and trails, 
design expectations and environmental mitigation components. 

 
This plan shall be subject to the review and approval of the City Engineer, and all lot grades shall 
conform to the approved grading plan, with written certification by a civil engineer or geotechnical 
engineer required to assure compliance with all grading plans prior to the issuance of any building 
permits, and shall be subject to the following: 

a. All lots shall drain toward the street and grade difference with adjacent properties shall 
not exceed .50 foot within the same development, as well as with any adjacent new 
development under simultaneous, phased or concurrent construction. 

b. Special drainage design to prevent drainage across property lines. 

c. All required structures such as walls, fences, and drainage facilities, shall be shown on the 
plan. 

d. Developed land must be at least six inches higher than adjoining irrigated lands. 

Not more than a one-foot grade differential will be created between new lots and adjacent existing 
developed lots outside the property territory, unless required and supported by engineering 
documentation illustrating extreme adverse results, and only with approval of the City Engineer and 
the Design Review Committee. 
 
Prior to the issuance of any building permits, lot grades shall conform to the approved grading 
plan.  Written certification by a civil engineer or geotechnical engineer will be required to assure 
compliance with all grading plans. 
 
The Project Proponent shall submit record tract grading plans showing: 

a. The elevation of all four (4) corners of the lot as well as the center of the lot; 

b. All top and toe of slope elevations, and 

c. The top and bottom of all retaining wall elevations. 

d. Plan will show grading in relation to all adjacent lots, parcels and developments. 

89. The soils engineer shall certify the pad compactions of all lots containing fill to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works and City Engineer prior to the issuance of building permits. 

 
90. The Project Proponent shall be responsible for obtaining any and all permits and approvals from 

public agencies whose jurisdiction the project may fall under including, but not limited to, 
Caltrans, the Regional Water Quality Control Board, the California Department of Fish and Game, 
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the Stanislaus County Water Resources Agency and the City of 
Hughson. 



 

 18 

 
91. Storm drainage swales, gutters, inlets, outfalls, and channels not within the area of a dedicated 

public street or public service easement approved by the City Engineer shall be privately 
maintained by the Homeowners Association.  

 
92. All improvements shall allow for continuous maintenance access.  Maintenance access measures 

shall include, but not be limited to, an all weather access ramp to and around the sides of the 
retention pond for maintenance vehicle access. 

 
93. Project Proponent shall, at Project Proponent’s expense prepare and submit a Dust Emission 

Control Plan for Project Grading.  The Plan shall require that contractor work specifications shall 
include provisions for adequate water to be applied during construction in order to control dust 
disturbance resulting from grading operations. The Plan and related contractor work 
specifications shall be reviewed and approved by the City prior to issuance of a grading permit.  
Dust control measures shall be applied in accordance with all ordinances, rules and regulations 
of the Stanislaus County Water Resources Agency regarding use of reclaimed or other sub-
potable water for compaction or dust control purposes.  Additionally, the Plan will be reviewed 
to assure compliance with applicable air quality programs, such as those related to particulate 
emissions, overseen by the San Joaquin Valley Unified Air Pollution Control District (SJVUAPCD). 
The construction phase of the project shall conform to SJVUAPCD regulations. 

 
Landscape   
94. All front yards of all lots shall be landscaped at the time of construction and shall utilize 

landscaping as approved by the City Engineer, Community Development Director, and the 
Design Review Committee.  
 

95. The Project Proponent shall provide root control barriers and four inch (4") perforated pipes for 
parking lot trees, street trees, and trees in planting areas less than ten feet (10' 0") in width, as 
determined necessary by the Community Development Director and the Design Review 
Committee at the time of review of the final landscape plans. 

 
96. Prior to the approval of improvement plans or issuance of the first building permit, detailed 

landscape and irrigation plans shall be reviewed and approved by the City and shall be a part of 
approved improvement plans and the building permit submittal.  The plans shall be prepared by 
a licensed landscape architect on an accurately surveyed base plan and shall comply with the 
City’s Low Impact Development plan and Municipal Codes. 
  

97. Landscaping shall be designed with efficient irrigation to reduce runoff, promote surface 
infiltration, and minimize the use of fertilizers and pesticides that can contribute to stormwater 
pollution. Where feasible, as determined by the City Engineer, landscaping should be designed 
and operated to treat stormwater runoff. Landscaping shall also comply with the City’s “low 
impact development manual”. 



 

 19 

 
98. Landscaping Plans shall incorporate the following:  

a. Underground Utilities: Locations and layout of all underground utilities lines, boxes and 
vaults shall be provided as base information on planting plans to minimize conflict with tree 
planting. 

b. Street Tree Planting along Public and Private Streets: One twenty-four-inch box tree shall be 
planted at every thirty feet on center in addition to required front yard trees. 

1) Required Screening of Above-Ground Utilities including Trash Enclosures: Above 
ground utilities (e.g. gas or electric meters, backflow devices) and trash 
enclosures shall be located from public/street view, and shall be screened with 
trees, shrubs, groundcovers and vines on all three sides except the side where 
access is located. 

2) All trees shall be planted twenty feet from a corner, a minimum of five feet away 
from any underground utilities, a minimum of fifteen feet from a light pole, or as 
otherwise specified by the city.  Root barrier shall be provided for all trees that 
are located within seven feet of paved edges or structure.  Trees shall be planted 
according to the City Standard Detail. 

c. C.3 Stormwater Treatment in Landscape Areas:  

1) A landscape area shall be provided around bio-treatment areas located adjacent 
to hardscape areas such as curbs, sidewalks, walkways and structures. The City 
will require a matched precipitation rotator type irrigation system on a separate 
valve for the stormwater treatment area irrigation. All spray irrigation systems 
shall be set back twenty-four inches from all impervious hardscape edges such as 
curbs, sidewalks, walkways and structures.  

2) Utility boxes and vaults, light fixtures and fire hydrants shall have minimum five 
feet of clearance from the edge of Stormwater Treatment areas unless otherwise 
approved by the City Engineer. 

3) Landscape areas may be used to comply with the Stormwater Treatment 
requirements; however, all tree planting requirements shall apply. A wider 
landscape area may be provided if necessary to accommodate both bio-
treatment and tree planting. 

d. A hose bib shall be provided within each private yard. 

e. Safety site lighting shall be provided along private driveway. Site lighting shall not be 
located to prohibit tree planting required by Zoning Ordinance. 

f. The minimum dimension for all planting areas should be five feet, including tree wells in 
parking lots or sidewalks measured from back of curb/paving unless otherwise approved 
by the City Engineer. 



 

 20 

g. Concrete curb shall be constructed to a height of six inches above the adjacent finished 
pavement when landscape area adjoins roadways or parking areas. 

 
Fire Protection 
99. An all weather surface road, suitable to the Hughson Fire Protection District, adequate for 

interim emergency vehicle access shall be provided to the project.  Interim emergency vehicle 
access shall be in place prior to placement of construction materials, or beginning construction 
of structures on the site.  Project Proponent shall acquire a permanent emergency vehicle access 
which shall be dedicated to the City by the property owner, prior to any occupancy.  
  

100. The minimum number of fire hydrants shall be provided in accordance with the Hughson Fire 
Code Ordinance and the California Fire Code. The average spacing between hydrants is 300 feet. 
All homes shall be within 300 feet of a fire hydrant. Spacing and locations of fire hydrants shall 
be subject to review and approval by the Hughson Fire District. 
 

101. Fire flow requirements for this development shall be 3,000 gallons per minute at 20 psi.  A 50 
percent reduction will be allowed in the fire flow for automatic fire sprinkler systems, which are 
required to be installed within each home. 

a. Provide water/fire flow test data information on the plan, including static pressure, 
residual pressure, Pitot pressure, test flow, calculated available water flow at 20 psi and 
test date.  This information is available for Community Development Department. 
 

Hazardous Materials 
102. Any wells, septic tank systems and other subsurface structures shall be removed properly in 

order not to pose a threat to the development construction workers, future residents or the 
environment.  Notification shall be made to the Community Development Department at least 
24 hours prior to removal.  Removal of these structures shall be documented and done under 
permit, as required by law. 

 
Solid Waste 
103. The Project Proponent shall submit a waste management plan to the Building Department prior 

to issuance of building permits.  The plan shall include the estimated composition and quantities 
of waste to be generated and how the Project Proponent intends to recycle at least 50% (fifty 
percent) of the total job site construction and demolition waste measured by weight or volume.  
Proof of compliance shall be provided to the Chief Building Official prior to the issuance of a 
final building permit.  During demolition and construction, the Project Proponent shall mark all 
trash disposal bins "trash materials only" and all recycling bins "recycling materials only".  The 
Project Proponent shall contact Waste Management for the disposal of all waste from the site.  
 
 
 



 

 21 

Construction 
104. During construction, hazardous materials used and hazardous waste generated shall be properly 

managed and disposed. 
 
105. The Project Proponent shall be responsible for all work performed by any and all contractors 

and subcontractors. 
 

106. Before commencing work pursuant to any City-approved permit or other entitlement relating to 
the Project, Project Proponent shall obtain the insurance required under this Section and receive 
the approval of the City Manager or his designee as to form, amount and carrier.  Project 
Proponent shall furnish City satisfactory evidence of the insurance and shall maintain the 
insurance until completion of the project.  Project Proponent shall also provide evidence that the 
carrier is required to give the City at least ten (10) days' prior written notice of the cancellation 
or reduction in coverage of a policy. The insurance shall name the City as an additional insured 
and extend to the City, its elective and appointive boards, commissions, officers, agents, 
employees and representatives and to the Project Proponent and each contractor and 
subcontractor performing work on the Project. 
 

107. Worker’s Compensation Insurance:  Project Proponent shall maintain workers' compensation 
insurance for all persons employed at Project Site.  Project Proponent shall require each 
contractor and subcontractor similarly to provide workers' compensation insurance for their 
respective employees.  Project Proponent agrees to indemnify the City for damage resulting 
from Project Proponent's failure to take out and maintain such insurance. 

 
108. Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance:  Project Proponent shall maintain public liability 

insurance in an amount not less than $1,000,000.00 for each injury (including death) to any one 
person and subject to the same limit of any one occurrence.   
 

109. Project Proponent shall provide City with proof of Workman’s Compensation and Liability 
insurance every six months. 

 
110. A qualified professional geotechnical engineer shall perform on-site monitoring of all grading 

and excavation activities on the project site.  Evidence of an agreement with a geotechnical 
engineer shall be submitted for review and approval of the Community Development Director 
and City Engineer prior to commencement of any grading activities or any underground work. 
The geotechnical engineer shall submit evidence that grading and excavation were performed 
consistent with the recommendations of the geotechnical investigation.  Evidence shall be 
submitted prior to issuance of building permits for each individual lot.  

 
Prior to Completion of Site Improvements 
111. Project Proponent shall replace, or have replaced, or repair or have repaired, as the case may be, 

all monuments shown on the Map which have been destroyed or damaged, and Project 



 

 22 

Proponent shall replace or have replaced, repair, or have repaired, as the case may be, or pay to 
the owner, the entire cost of replacement by reason of any work done hereunder, whether such 
property be owned by the United States or any agency thereof, or the State of California, or any 
agency or political subdivision thereof, or by the City or by any public or private corporation, or 
by any person whomsoever, or by any combination of such owners.  Any such repair or 
replacement shall be to the satisfaction and subject to the approval of the City Engineer.  Project 
Proponent shall provide such monumentation as may be required by City Engineer, in 
accordance with accepted standards. 

112. The Community Development Director may allow earlier “start-times” for specific building 
construction activities, e.g., concrete-foundation/floor-pouring, if it can be demonstrated to the 
satisfaction of the Planning Director that the construction and construction traffic noise can be 
mitigated. 
 

113. All mechanical equipment shall be maintained in such a manner that noise emanating from it 
will not be perceptible beyond the property plane of the subject property in a normal 
environment for that zoning district. 
 

114. The Project Proponent shall adjust all sprinkler systems to meet minimum and maximum 
watering requirements, and shall inform the purchaser of such requirements. 
 

115. Developer shall conform to and abide by all applicable California State Laws pertaining to 
construction of public improvements. 

 
116. Upon completion of construction, the Fire District will complete a final walk- through inspection.  

During Construction 
117. Project Proponent shall, at Project Proponents expense, and under City’s direction, provide for 

traffic control, during construction, so as to minimize the impact on residents surrounding or 
adjacent to the Project. In this connection, Project Proponent agrees that, during any 
construction within or as a part of the overall Project, all existing roadways as of the date of 
approval of this vesting tentative subdivision map shall, at all times, remain passable to a 
minimum of two lanes of traffic, one in each direction, or an acceptable detour approved by 
City.  Project Proponent further agrees that if, at any time, City shall determine that there are not 
sufficient acceptable traffic lanes or acceptable detour which are passable, that all construction 
by Project Proponent shall immediately cease upon written demand therefore, by City.    

 
118. If archeological materials are uncovered during project implementation, grading, trenching, or 

other on-site excavation, all work on site shall be stopped and the City immediately notified.  
The county coroner and the Native American Heritage Commission shall also be notified and 
procedures followed as required by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and 
California law. A similar note shall appear on the improvement plans.    



 

 23 

 
119. The developer shall ensure that unpaved construction areas are sprinkled with water as 

necessary to reduce dust generation. Construction equipment shall be maintained and operated 
in such a way as to minimize exhaust emissions. 
 

120. All diesel powered equipment (≥ 100 horsepower) shall be California Air Resources Board 
(CARB) Tier 3 Certified or better. 

 
121. The following control measures for construction noise, grading and construction activities shall 

be adhered to, unless otherwise approved by the Community Development Director or City 
Engineer: 

a. Grading and site construction activities shall be limited to the hours 7:00 AM to 10:00 PM 
Monday through Friday and 8:00 AM to 10:00 PM Saturday and Sunday including legal 
holidays; 

b. Grading and construction equipment shall be properly muffled to meet Department of 
Motor Vehicle noise standards; 

c. Unnecessary idling of grading and construction equipment is prohibited; 
d. Stationary noise-generating construction equipment, such as compressors, shall be located 

as far as practical from occupied residential housing units; 
e. Daily clean-up of trash and debris shall occur on streets utilized by construction equipment 

or vehicles making deliveries. 
f. Gather all construction debris on a regular basis and place them in a dumpster or other 

container which is emptied or removed on a weekly basis.  When appropriate, use tarps on 
the ground to collect fallen debris or splatters that could contribute to storm water 
pollution; 

g. Remove all dirt, gravel, rubbish, refuse and green waste from the sidewalk, street pavement, 
and storm drain system adjoining the project site.  During wet weather, avoid driving 
vehicles off paved areas and other outdoor work; 

h. The site shall be watered twice daily during site grading and earth removal work, or at other 
times as may be needed to control dust emissions; 

i. All grading and earth removal work shall follow remediation plan requirements, if soil 
contamination is found to exist on the site; 

j. Pave, apply water three times daily, or apply (non-toxic) soil stabilizers on all unpaved 
access roads, parking areas and staging areas at construction sites; 

122. The minimum soils sampling and testing frequency shall conform to Chapter 8 of the Caltrans 
Construction Manual. The subdivider shall require the soils engineer to daily submit all testing 
and sampling and reports to the City Engineer. 

 
123. The City shall be notified immediately if hazardous materials or associated structures are 

discovered during demolition or during grading.  These shall include, but shall not be limited to, 



 

 24 

actual/suspected hazardous materials, underground tanks, or other vessels that contain or may 
have contained hazardous materials. 

 
Prior to Construction Completion/Issuance of Certificate of Occupancy 
124. Final inspection by the Building Department is required prior to issuance of certificate of 

occupancy. 
 

125. In addition to any specifics regarding lighting elsewhere noted in these conditions, Project 
Proponent understands that all lighting on a given street will be fully operational prior to any 
occupancy being granted on that street. 

 
126. Prior to final acceptance, Project Proponent shall file with the City of Hughson one set of 

reproducible mylar “record drawings”, two sets of “record drawings”, and one electronic version. 
Said drawings shall meet all requirements of Section 66434 of Subdivision Map Act. Said set of 
drawings shall contain a copy of sheets with construction changes made or an indication that no 
changes were made and shall be submitted for approval by the City Engineer. The disk shall also 
provide the following information: 

a. The street addresses on lots; and 

b. Building outlines for all existing structures. 

 
127. The City Engineer or other authorized representative of the City shall inspect all of the Public 

Improvements to see that they comply with City subdivision regulations including, but not 
limited to, these Conditions of Approval, Standard Specifications and Design Expectation 
Guidelines.  The Project Proponent hereby grants access to the Project and Project Site for 
inspection purposes and agrees to notify City Engineer at least 48 hours in advance of required 
inspection.  Project Proponent shall pay to City the actual cost to City for all inspection, and 
other services furnished by City in connection with the Project by paying Plan Check and 
Inspection fees, and shall also reimburse City for the actual cost charged to City by City Engineer 
for all services performed in accordance with these Conditions, such charges to be at the normal 
rate charged the City by the City Engineer.  However, all costs in soil testing, concrete testing 
and compaction testing will be the responsibility of the Project Proponent.  Plan check and 
inspection fees will be based on the approved engineer's estimate. 
 

128. If the Project Proponent deviates from the approved improvement drawings, specifications or 
standards, or shall construct any Public Improvements in such a manner so as to, in the opinion 
of the City Engineer, endanger the public safety, the City may cause the necessary corrections to 
be made without notice.  In the event such deviations do not, in the opinion of the City 
Engineer, endanger the public safety, the City Engineer may give the Project Proponent written 
notice of such deviations, and the Project Proponent shall correct the deviation in the time 
prescribed by the City Engineer.  In the event of the failure of the Project Proponent to make 
corrections of deviations, whether or not the public safety is affected, the City may cause the 



 

 25 

necessary corrections to be made and shall be reimbursed by the Project Proponent at cost plus 
25%. Said amount shall be deducted from the reimbursement by the City to the Project 
Proponent or shall be paid for by the Project Proponent prior to the acceptance of the 
improvements, or shall be obtained from the improvement securities.  Project Proponent shall 
perform any changes or alterations in the construction and installation of such Public 
Improvements required by City, provided that all such changes or alterations do not exceed 10 
percent of the original total estimated cost of such Public Improvements. 
 

129. Prior to final inspections, all pertinent conditions of approval and all improvements shall be 
completed to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director and City Engineer. 
 

130. Prior to the issuance of the first Certificate of Occupancy, all landscape and irrigation should be 
substantially completed in accordance to the approved plan.  An Irrigation Schedule shall be 
submitted prior to the final inspection and acceptance of improvements. 

 
131. Landscape and tree improvements shall be installed according to the approved plans prior to 

the occupancy of each building.  All common area landscaping, irrigation and other required 
improvements shall be installed prior to acceptance of tract improvements, or occupancy of 
eighty percent of the dwelling units, whichever first occurs and a Certificate of Completion, as-
built Mylar and an Irrigation Schedule shall be submitted prior to the Final Approval of the 
landscaping for the Tract to the Community Development Department by the developer. 

 
132. Prior to the sale of any individual lot, or prior to the acceptance of subdivision improvements, 

whichever first occurs, a homeowners’ association shall be created to maintain the common area 
landscaping and open space amenities. Each owner shall automatically become a member of the 
association and shall be subject to a proportionate share of maintenance expenses. A reserve 
fund shall be maintained to cover the costs of replacement and repair. 

 
133. A covenant or deed restriction shall be recorded with each lot requiring the property owner to 

properly maintain the front yard landscaping, and street trees.  
 
134. A provision that if the property owners’ association fails to maintain the landscaping and 

irrigation in all common areas for which it is responsible so that owners, their families, tenants, 
or adjacent owners will be impacted in the enjoyment, use or property value of the project, the 
City shall have the right to enter upon the project and to commence and complete such work as 
is necessary to maintain the common areas and private streets, after reasonable notice, and lien 
the properties for their proportionate share of the costs. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 26 

Community Facilities District 
135. Prior to issuance of the first Certificate of Occupancy for a single family home, the developer 

shall form a Community Facilities District (CFD) to provide funding for operations, maintenance 
and servicing of public infrastructure, facilities, improvements, landscaping and other features in 
public rights-of-way.  This shall be in addition to the project proponent’s proposed HOA which 
will provide funding for all private areas within the project site. 
 

136. Prior to approval of the final map, the developer shall provide a $10,000 deposit to the City to 
cover the costs associated with formation of the Community Facility District. 
 

Homeowners’ Association 
137. Prior to the sale of any parcel, or prior to the acceptance of site improvements, whichever occurs 

first, Conditions, Covenants and Restrictions (CC&R’s) creating homeowners association shall be 
reviewed and approved by the Community Development Director and City Attorney and 
recorded.  The CC&R’s shall describe how the stormwater BMPs associated with privately owned 
improvements and landscaping shall be maintained by the association. The CC&Rs shall include 
the following provisions: 

a. Each owner shall automatically become a member of the association(s) and shall be 
subject to a proportionate share of maintenance expenses. 

b. A reserve fund shall be maintained to cover the costs of improvements and landscaping 
to be maintained by the Association(s). 

c. The association shall be managed and maintained by a reputable professional property 
management company. 

d. The homeowners association(s) shall own and maintain on-site storm drain systems. 

e. The homeowners association(s) shall maintain the common area irrigation system and 
maintain the common area landscaping in a healthy, weed–free condition at all times. 
The homeowner’s association(s) representative(s) shall inspect the landscaping on a 
monthly basis. Trees shall not be severely pruned, topped or pollarded. Any trees that 
are pruned in this manner shall be replaced with a tree species selected and size 
determined by the City. 

f. A provision that if the homeowners association fails to maintain the decorative walls, 
landscaping and irrigation in all common areas for which it is responsible so that owners, 
their families, tenants, or adjacent owners will be impacted in the enjoyment, use or 
property value of the project, the City shall have the right to enter upon the project and 
to commence and complete such work as is necessary to maintain the common areas 
and private streets, after reasonable notice, and lien the properties for their 
proportionate share of the costs. 



 

 27 

g. A requirement that the building exteriors and fences shall be maintained free of graffiti. 
The owner’s representative shall inspect the premises on a weekly basis and any graffiti 
shall be removed within 72 hours of inspection or within 72 hours of notification by the 
City. 

h. The garage of each unit shall be maintained for off-street parking of two vehicles and 
shall not be converted to living or storage areas. An automatic garage door opening 
mechanism shall be provided for all garage doors. 

i. The residents shall not use parking spaces for storage of recreational vehicles, camper 
shells, boats or trailers. These parking spaces shall be monitored by the homeowners 
association. The homeowners association shall remove vehicles parked contrary to this 
provision. The CC&R’s shall include authority for the HOA to tow illegally-parked 
vehicles.  

j. Individual homeowners shall maintain in good repair the exterior elevations of their 
dwelling. The CC&Rs shall include provisions as to a reasonable time period that a unit 
shall be repainted, the limitations of work (modifications) allowed on the exterior of the 
building, the formation of a design review committee and its power to review changes 
proposed on a building exterior and its color scheme, and the right of the homeowners 
association to have necessary work done and to place a lien upon the property if 
maintenance and repair of the unit is not executed within a specified time frame. The 
premises shall be kept clean and free of debris at all times. Color change selections shall 
be compatible with the existing setting. 

k. Any future major modification to the approved site plan shall require review and 
approval by the Planning Commission. 

l. Streetlights and pedestrian lighting shall be owned and continually maintained and 
operated by the homeowners association and shall have a decorative design approved 
by the Planning Director and the City Engineer. 

m. Street sweeping of private streets, alleys and parking bays shall be conducted at least 
once a month. 

n. Balconies may not be used for storage and personal items may not be draped over the 
railings. 

o. The association shall ensure that no less than 75 percent of the units shall be owner-
occupied.  The CC&Rs shall further provide that the leasing of units as a regular practice 
for business, speculative investment or other similar purpose is not permitted.  However, 
to address special situations and avoid unusual hardship or special circumstances, such 
as a loss of job, job transfer, military transfer, change of school or illness or injury that, 
according to a doctor, prevents the owner from being employed, the CC&Rs may 
authorize the governing body to grant its consent, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, to a unit owner who wishes to lease or otherwise assign 
occupancy rights to a specified lessee for a specified period. 



 

 28 

138. The homeowners association shall maintain all fencing, parking surfaces, common landscaping, 
lighting, trash enclosures, drainage facilities, project signs, exterior building elevations, entry 
gates, etc.  The CC&Rs shall include provisions as to a reasonable time period that the building 
shall be repainted, the limitations of work (modifications) allowed on the exterior of the 
buildings, and its power to review changes proposed on a building exterior and its color 
scheme, and the right of the homeowners association to have necessary work done and to place 
a lien upon the property if maintenance and repair of the unit is not executed within a specified 
time frame.  The premises shall be kept clean. 
 

139. All common area landscaping, irrigation and other required improvements shall be installed 
according to the approved plans. 

 
140. The subdivider shall submit an AutoCAD file format (release 2010 or later) in a CD of approved 

final map and ‘as-built’ improvement plans showing lot and utility layouts that can be used to 
update the City’s Base Maps. 

 
141. The Project Proponent shall furnish City with a warranty bond in the amount of 10% of the 

improvement costs to guarantee Public Improvements for a period of one year following the 
completion by Project Proponent and filing of Notice of Completion by City against any 
defective work or labor done, or defective materials furnished, or adverse effect to any portion 
of adjacent properties in the construction of the Public Improvements. Project Proponent agrees 
to remedy any defects in the improvements arising from faulty or defective construction of said 
improvements that occur within one years of acceptance, and to incur all expenses of such 
repairs that exceed the 10% bond.  
 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Conditions from Responsible Agencies 
Stanislaus Consolidated Fire Protection District: 
142. Developer shall pay all Public Facilities Impact Fees and Fire Facilities Fees. The fees shall be 

payable at the time of issuance of the building permit for any construction and shall be based 
on the rates in effect at the time of building permit issuance. 
 

143. Fire department access and water for fire protection shall be provided and maintained in 
accordance with all requirements, applicable codes and ordinances. Two ingress/egress accesses 
shall be provided. 

 
Stanislaus County Department of Environmental Resources: 
144. All existing on-site wells and/or septic tanks shall be destroyed under permit from the 

Department of Environmental Resources (DER) and in accordance with all laws and polices as 
regulated by Stanislaus County and California State Model Well Standards. 
 



 

 29 

Turlock Irrigation District (District) 
145. The Developer shall submit plans detailing the existing irrigation facilities, relative to the 

proposed site improvements, in order for the District to determine specific impacts. 
 
Properties that will no longer irrigate or have direct access to water must request abandonment 
from applicable Improvement Districts. Developed property adjoining irrigated ground must be 
graded so that finished grading elevations are at least 6 inches higher than irrigated ground. A 
protective berm must be installed to prevent irrigation water from reaching non-irrigated 
properties.  Stub-end streets adjoining irrigated ground must have a berm installed at least 12” 
above the finished grade of the irrigated parcel(s). 
 
Any applicable improvements to this property shall be subject to the District’s approval and 
meet all District standards and specifications. If it is determined that irrigation facilities will be 
impacted, the applicant will need to provide irrigation improvement plans and enter into an 
Irrigation Improvements Agreement for the required irrigation facility modifications. There is a 
District Board approved time and material fee associated with this review. 

 
146. The Developer shall apply for a facility change for any pole or electrical facility relocation. Facility 

changes are performed at the developer’s expense. 



Province
Place

Province
Place

INTERIOR STREET TREE,

BEYOND

PROJECT MAIN

ENTRY GATE

MASONRY WALL
GOOD NEIGHBOR WOOD FENCE, 6'

ORNAMENTAL

STEEL FENCE

FLOWERING ACCENT

TREE, TYP.

PERSON

GATE

ORNAMENTAL

STEEL FENCE

MASONRY WALL
GOOD NEIGHBOR WOOD FENCE, 6'

HOUSES, BEYOND,TYP

LOW WATER USE CLUMP GRASS

GROUND COVER

SMALL ACCENT SHRUB

CHINESE PISTACHE OR SIMILAR

GRAVELIA 'SCARLET SPRITE'

OR SIMILAR

COTONEASTER ' LOW FAST'

OR SIMILAR

FORSYTHIA FLOWERING SHRUB

OR SIMILAR.

MULTI-TRUNK CREPE MYRTLE

OR SIMILAR

LOT 4 LOT 3 LOT 2 LOT 1

JAN. 13, 2017

Warren R. McClung
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DR
AW

IN
G 

IN
FO

RM
AT

IO
N

DR
AW

IN
G 

NA
ME

ST
AM

P
PR

OJ
EC

T 
AN

D 
CL

IE
NT

 IN
FO

RM
AT

IO
N

SHEET NO.

PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWN BY

DATE

CHK'D BY

STAMP

STAMP
STAMP

#
DE

SC
RI

PT
IO

N
DA

TE

D
T

_
E

n
t
r
y
_
E

l
e
v
a
t
i
o
n
-
0
1
.
d
w

g

16WPB-02

© COPYRIGHT 2016

11
66

6 
Se

re
na

 C
ou

rt
 ▪

So
no

ra
, C

A 
▪

95
37

0
w

rm
cc

lu
ng

@
m

lo
de

.c
om

 ▪ 
Ph

 2
09

.8
40

.1
19

8

CA
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
  N

o.
 4

38
2

Pl
an

ni
ng

 ▪
 S

it
e 

D
es

ig
n 

▪ 
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
W

a
rr

e
n

 R
. 

M
cC

lu
n

g
P

R
O

V
I
N

C
E

 
P

L
A

C
E

A
.
P

.
N

.
 
0
1
8
-
0
2
6
-
0
1
6
 

W
i
n
w

a
r
d
 
P

a
c
i
f
i
c
 
B

u
i
l
d
e
r
s
,
 
I
n
c
.

2
4
0
1
 
E

U
C

L
I
D

 
A

V
E

N
U

E
;
 
H

U
G

H
S

O
N

,
 
C

A
 
9
5
3
2
6
 

1
3

5
 
S

.
 
5

T
H

 
S

T
R

E
E

T
,
 
S

U
I
T

E
 
J
;
 
O

A
K

D
A

L
E

,
 
C

A
 
9

5
3

6
1

T
R

O
Y

 
W

R
I
G

H
T

:
 
 
(
2

0
9

)
 
5

2
1

-
0

8
0

3

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

------------

L
O

C
U

S
T

 
S

T
R

E
E

T
 
L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E

E
X

A
M

P
L
E

 
P

L
A

N
 
A

N
D

 
E

L
E

V
A

T
I
O

N

LP6.01

B

ELVEVATION:  LOCUST STREET FRONTAGE/ENTRY

NORTH

0' 2' 4' 8'

SC
ALE

A

PLAN VIEW:  LOCUST STREET FRONTAGE/ENTRY

0' 2' 4' 8'

SC
ALE




















	1.1 PC Agenda 1-17-17
	AGENDA
	1. PUBLIC BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR (No Action Can Be Taken):
	2. PRESENTATIONS:   NONE.
	3. NEW BUSINESS:
	4. PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING:
	5. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS:  NONE.
	6. CORRESPONDENCE:  NONE.
	7. COMMENTS:


	City of Hughson
	Regularly Scheduled
	Planning Commission Meeting

	Notice Regarding Non-English Speakers:

	3.1 Minutes 12-20-16 1-17-17
	1. PUBLIC BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR (No Action Can Be Taken):
	2. PRESENTATIONS:
	3. NEW BUSINESS:
	4. PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING:  NONE.
	5. INFORMATION ITEMS:
	6. CORRESPONDENCE:      NONE.

	City of Hughson
	PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING
	City Hall Council Chambers

	4.1 Province Place VTSM.PM.RZ.PD.DR Approval_SR 1-17-17
	4.1a Resolution 2017-02 Province Place ISMND 1-17-17
	4.1b Resolution 2017-03_Province Place Rezone 1-17-17
	4.1c Resolution PC No. 2017-01_Design Review Approval 1-17-17
	4.1d Public Review Draft_IS&MND_Province Place_12.5.16 1-17-17
	4.1e CVRWQCB_12.23.16 1-17-17
	4.1f NAHC_12.23.16 1-17-17
	4.1g Vicinity Map 1-17-17
	4.1h Site Map 1-17-17
	4.1i General Plan Map 1-17-17
	4.1j Zoning Map 1-17-17
	4.1k VTSM 1-17-17
	4.1l COAs_Province Place 1-17-17
	4.1m DT_Entry_Elevation-01-ELEV (2) 1-17-17
	Sheets and Views
	ELEV (2)


	4.1n Screen Shot 2017-01-13 at 4.43.04 PM
	4.1o Screen Shot 2017-01-13 at 4.44.47 PM
	4.1p Screen Shot 2017-01-13 at 4.45.31 PM
	4.1q Screen Shot 2017-01-12 at 11.55.02 AM
	4.1r Screen Shot 2017-01-12 at 12.02.47 PM
	4.1s Screen Shot 2017-01-13 at 4.48.15 PM
	4.1t Screen Shot 2017-01-13 at 4.48.53 PM
	4.1u Screen Shot 2017-01-13 at 12.05.42 PM
	4.1v Screen Shot 2017-01-13 at 12.07.22 PM

